

RESIDENTIAL CARE ACT**TITLE 63 OF THE OKLAHOMA STATUTES****Section 1-819 et seq.****As Amended in 2017****§1-819. Short Title**

Sections 1-820 through 1-840 of this act shall be known and may be cited as the "Residential Care Act."

Added by Laws 1984, c. 128, § 1, eff. Nov. 1, 1984. Amended by Laws 1987, c. 98, § 1, emerg. eff. May 20, 1987.

§1-820. Definitions

As used in the Residential Care Act:

1. "Abuse" means the willful infliction of injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation or punishment, with resulting physical harm, impairment or mental anguish;
2. "Access" means the right of a person to enter a home to communicate privately and without unreasonable restriction;
3. "Administrator" means the person who is in charge of a home and who devotes at least one-third (1/3) of his or her full working time to on-the-job supervision of the home;
4. "Adult companion home" means any home or establishment, funded and certified by the Department of Human Services, which provides homelike residential accommodations and supportive assistance to three or fewer developmentally disabled adults;
5. "Advisory Board" means the Long-Term Care Facility Advisory Board;
6. "Ambulatory" means any resident who is capable of self-movement, including in and out of wheelchairs, to all areas of the home;
7. "Board" means the State Board of Health;
8. "Commissioner" means the State Commissioner of Health;
9. "Department" means the State Department of Health;
10. "Habilitation" means procedures and interventions designed to assist a mentally ill, drug-dependent or alcohol-dependent person eighteen (18) years of age or older to achieve greater physical, mental and social development by enhancing the well-being of the person and teaching skills which increase the possibility that the resident will make progressively independent and responsible decisions about social behavior, quality of life, job satisfaction and personal relationships;
11. "Home" means a residential care home;
12. "Residential care home":
 - a. means any establishment or institution which offers, provides or supports residential accommodations, food service, and supportive assistance to any of its residents or houses

any residents requiring supportive assistance who are not related to the owner or administrator of the home by blood or marriage. A residential care home shall not include:

- (1) an adult companion home,
- (2) a group home,
- (3) a hotel,
- (4) a motel,
- (5) a residential mental health facility operated by the Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services,
- (6) a fraternity or a sorority house,
- (7) college or university dormitory, or
- (8) a home or facility approved and annually reviewed by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs as a medical foster home in which care is provided exclusively to three or fewer veterans.

The residents of a residential care home shall be ambulatory and essentially capable of participating in their own activities of daily living, but shall not routinely require nursing services, and

b. may consist of a series of units or buildings which are not connected or part of the same structure if:

- (1) such buildings or units are owned by the same owner or operator,
- (2) all residents of the units or buildings are fully capable of ambulation to and from the buildings or units,
- (3) the location and construction of the buildings or units ensure the health, safety, and protection from fire hazards and other hazards and provide for the convenience and accessibility of the residents to each residential building or unit,
- (4) any out-of-doors premise or thoroughfare is adequately maintained to ensure the health and safety of the residents, and
- (5) the buildings or units are within one hundred seventy-five (175) feet of the building housing the main kitchen and dining room. The units or buildings must be located in the most convenient and accessible location for residents;

provided, however, the leasing of rooms directly or indirectly to residents of a home shall not void the application of the provisions of the Residential Care Act or rules promulgated pursuant thereto.

The State Board of Health shall promulgate rules for such residential homes pursuant to the provisions of Section 1-836 of this title;

13. "Licensee" means a person, corporation, partnership, or association who is the owner of a home which is licensed

pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act;

14. "Maintenance" means meals, shelter, and laundry services;

15. "Neglect" means failure to provide goods and/or services necessary to avoid physical harm, mental anguish, or mental illness;

16. "Operator" means the person who is not the administrator but who manages the home;

17. "Owner" means a person, corporation, partnership, association, or other entity which owns or leases a home or part of a home, directly or indirectly, to residents. The person or entity that stands to profit or lose as a result of the financial success or failure of the operation shall be presumed to be the owner of the home;

18. "Personal care" means assistance with meals, dressing, movement, bathing or other personal needs or maintenance, or general supervision of the physical and mental well-being of a person, who is incapable of maintaining a private, independent residence, or who is unable to manage all activities of daily living without assistance, whether or not a guardian has been appointed for the person;

19. "Resident" means a person of legal age, residing in a home due to illness, physical or mental infirmity, or advanced age;

20. "Representative of a resident" means a court-appointed guardian, or if there is no court-appointed guardian, a relative or other person designated in writing by the resident. No owner, agent, employee, or person with a pecuniary interest in the residential facility or relative thereof shall be a representative of a resident unless the person is appointed by the court;

21. "Supportive assistance" means the service rendered to any person which is sufficient to enable the person to meet an adequate level of daily living. Supportive assistance includes, but is not limited to, housekeeping, assistance in the preparation of meals, assistance in the safe storage, distribution and administration of medications, and assistance in personal care as necessary for the health and comfort of the person. The term "supportive assistance" shall not be interpreted or applied so as to prohibit the participation of residents in housekeeping or meal preparation tasks as a part of the written treatment plan for the training, habilitation or rehabilitation of the resident, prepared with the participation of the resident, the mental health or drug or alcohol services case manager assigned to the resident, and the administrator of the facility or a designee; and

22. "Transfer" means a change in location of living arrangements of a resident from one home to another home.

Added by Laws 1984, HB 1898, c. 128, § 8, eff. November 1, 1984; Amended by Laws 1985, HB 1426, c. 135, § 1, emerg. eff. June 7, 1985; Amended by Laws

1987, HB 1160, c. 98, § 2, emerg. eff. May 20, 1987; Amended by Laws 1987, HB 1460, c. 225, § 45, eff. November 1, 1987; Amended by Laws 1988, HB 2001, c. 260, § 1, eff. November 1, 1988; Amended by Laws 1989, HB 1153, c. 330, § 5, eff. November 1, 1989; Amended by Laws 1990, HB 2012, c. 295, § 2, emerg. eff. July 1, 1990; Amended by Laws 1993, SB 108, c. 159, § 15, emerg. eff. July 1, 1993; Amended by Laws 1995, HB 1293, c. 230, § 4, emerg. eff. July 1, 1995; Amended by Laws 2001, SB 738, c. 410, § 1, eff. November 1, 2001 ([superseded document available](#)); Amended by Laws 2003, SB 602, c. 220, § 1, eff. November 1, 2003 ([superseded document available](#)); Amended by Laws 2012, [SB 1210](#), c. 12, § 1, emerg. eff. April 5, 2012 ([superseded document available](#))

§1-821. Rules - Powers and duties.

A. The State Board of Health shall promulgate rules to enforce the provisions of the Residential Care Act which shall include, but not be limited to, provisions for temperature settings, lighting, ventilation, and other physical conditions that affect the health, safety and welfare of the residents in a home. Residential care homes that provide care for three or fewer residents shall be subject to the provisions of the Residential Care Act; provided, however, if such rules unduly restrict operation of the home, the Board shall be authorized and shall promulgate additional rules for residential care homes based upon the number of residents in a home.

B. The State Department of Health shall have the power and duty to:

1. Issue, renew, deny, modify, suspend, and revoke licenses for homes pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act;

2. Enforce the provisions of the Residential Care Act and any rules promulgated pursuant thereto by the Board, and require the submission and review of reports from any person establishing or operating a home;

3. Enter upon any public or private property for the purpose of:

- a. inspecting and investigating conditions of the residents in the home,
- b. inspecting and investigating the home for compliance with the provisions of the Residential Care Act or rules promulgated pursuant thereto, or
- c. determining if services are being provided without a license;

4. Employ or designate personnel to conduct investigations and inspections, to make reports of the condition of homes and the residents of such homes, and to take necessary action pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act to protect and safeguard the health, safety, and welfare of residents of homes;

5. Establish a procedure for receipt and investigation of complaints regarding a home or concerning the condition, care,

and treatment of a resident of a home;

6. Report to the district attorney having jurisdiction or the Attorney General any act committed by an owner, administrator, operator, or employee of a home which may constitute a misdemeanor pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act;

7. Advise, consult, and cooperate with other agencies of this state, the federal government, other states and interstate agencies, and with affected groups and political subdivisions to further the purposes of the provisions of the Residential Care Act;

8. Investigate, request or otherwise obtain the information necessary to determine the qualifications and background of an applicant for licensure;

9. Establish civil penalties for violations of the provisions of the Residential Care Act as authorized by the Board pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act;

10. Institute and maintain or intervene in any action or proceeding where deemed necessary by the Department to protect the health, safety, and welfare of any resident of a home;

11. Assure the accountability for reimbursed care provided in certified homes participating in a federal or state health program as provided by or through the Department of Human Services;

12. Advise, consult, cooperate and assist with technology center schools or institutions of higher education in this state in providing the training of persons to distribute and administer medication to a resident of a home;

13. Transfer or discharge a resident or otherwise protect the health, safety, and welfare of any resident of a home; and

14. Exercise all incidental powers as necessary and proper for the administration of the Residential Care Act.

C. To improve patient care, the Department shall hold a public meeting at least once every four (4) years in each of the licensed homes to advise and to facilitate communication and cooperation between personnel of the home and the residents. Administrators, employees of the home, residents, friends and relatives of the residents, representatives of the residents, and employees from appropriate state and federal agencies shall be invited and encouraged to attend such meetings.

Added by Laws 1984, c. 128, § 9, eff. Nov. 1, 1984. Amended by Laws 1985, c. 135, § 2, emerg. eff. June 7, 1985; Laws 1987, c. 98, § 3, emerg. eff. May 20, 1987; Laws 2001, c. 410, § 2, eff. Nov. 1, 2001; Laws 2002, c. 22, § 21, emerg. eff. March 8, 2002. NOTE: Laws 2001, c. 33, § 59 repealed by Laws 2002, c. 22, § 34, emerg. eff. March 8, 2002.

§63-1-821.1. Task Force on Nursing Home Insurance Access.

A. There is hereby created, to continue until February 1, 2007, the "Task Force on Nursing Home Insurance Access".

B. The Task Force shall consist of sixteen (16) members:

1. Three members shall be appointed by the Speaker of the Oklahoma House of Representatives as follows:

- a. one member who represents an intermediate care facility for the mentally retarded (ICF/MR),
- b. one member who represents a nursing home facility, and
- c. one member of the Oklahoma House of Representatives appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives;

2. Three members shall be appointed by the President Pro Tempore of the State Senate as follows:

- a. one member who is a practicing attorney in the area of elder or health care law,
- b. one member who represents a statewide elder justice organization, and
- c. one member of the State Senate appointed by the President Pro Tempore of the State Senate;

3. Four members shall be appointed by the Governor as follows:

- a. one member who is a practicing attorney in insurance and medical malpractice law,
- b. one member who has experience in health economics,
- c. one member who represents the insurance industry, and
- d. one member who represents a nursing home facility;

4. The Director of the Department of Human Services, or a designee;

5. The Director of the State Department of Health, or a designee;

6. The President of the Oklahoma Association of Health Care Providers, or a designee;

7. The Commissioner of the Oklahoma Insurance Department, or a designee;

8. The President of the Oklahoma Association of Home Care, or a designee; and

9. The Director of the Oklahoma Health Care Authority, or a designee.

C. The appointed member from the Oklahoma House of Representatives and the appointed member from the State Senate shall serve as cochairs of the Task Force. The cochairs shall convene the first meeting of the Task Force. The members of the Task Force shall elect any other officers during the first meeting and upon a vacancy in any office. The Task Force shall meet as often as necessary.

D. Appointments to the Task Force shall be made by July 1, 2006.

E. A majority of the members of the Task Force shall constitute a quorum. A majority of the members present at a meeting may act for the Task Force.

F. Nonlegislative members of the Task Force shall be reimbursed by their respective agencies for necessary travel expenses incurred in the performance of duties pursuant to the provisions of the State Travel Reimbursement Act. Legislative members of the Task Force shall be reimbursed for necessary travel expenses incurred in the performance of duties in accordance with the provisions of Section 456 of Title 74 of the Oklahoma Statutes.

G. Administrative support for the Task Force including, but not limited to, personnel necessary to ensure the proper performance of the duties and responsibilities of the Task Force, shall be provided by the Oklahoma Health Care Authority to be supplemented, if necessary, by the state agencies involved in the Task Force, and the staff of the House of Representatives and the State Senate. All participating state agencies shall provide for any administrative support requested by the Task Force.

H. The Task Force shall develop recommendations for providing greater access to liability insurance coverage for nursing home facilities including, but not limited to, improved enforcement of nursing home quality standards, affordable premiums, risk management, alternative forms of insurance, and strengthened regulation of the insurance industry.

I. The Task Force shall examine the feasibility of transferring the administration of community-based services from the Department of Human Services to the Oklahoma Health Care Authority.

J. The Task Force shall publish a report of findings and recommendations by February 1, 2007, including recommendations for any resulting legislation.

Added by Laws 2006, c. 315, § 12, emerg. eff. June 9, 2006.

**§1-822. Application for license--Fee--Information
required--Qualifications--Issuance of
license--Expiration--Modification--Renewal**

A. An application for a license, or renewal thereof, to establish or operate a residential care home shall be accompanied by a fee of Fifty Dollars (\$50.00). The fee shall not be refunded. Except as provided for in Section 1-824 of this title, a license shall expire twenty-four (24) months from the date of issuance, unless sooner revoked, and may be renewed biannually by the State Department of Health pursuant to the

provisions of the Residential Care Act. All licenses shall be on a form prescribed by the State Commissioner of Health, and shall include, but not be limited to, the maximum bed capacity for which the license is granted, the date the license was issued, and the expiration date of the license. The provisions of the license shall require that the license shall:

1. Not be transferable or assignable except as authorized by the provisions of the Residential Care Act;

2. Be posted in a conspicuous place on the licensed premises; and

3. Be issued only for the premises named in the application, and may be renewed for twenty-four-month periods upon application, inspection, and payment of the license fee, as required by the provisions of the Residential Care Act.

B. An application shall contain the following information:

1. The name and address of the owner of the home. If the owner is a firm or partnership, the name and address of each member thereof shall be included in the application. If the owner is a corporation, the name and address of the corporation and the name and address of each officer and registered agent of the corporation shall be included in the application;

2. The name and address of the applicant if the applicant is not the owner and is acting as agent for the owner;

3. The name and location of the home for which a license is sought;

4. The name of the administrator of the home;

5. The number and type of residents for whom services are to be provided; and

6. The staffing pattern for providing resident care. In the case of an application for an initial license, the staffing pattern shown may be the projected staffing pattern.

C. Each initial application shall be accompanied by a statement from the unit of local government having zoning jurisdiction over the location of the home stating that the location is not in violation of a zoning ordinance.

D. 1. An applicant shall be twenty-one (21) years of age or older and meet the specific requirements for licensure as specified in rules promulgated by the State Board of Health pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act.

2. No person who has been convicted of a felony in connection with the management or operation of a home, or facility as defined in Section 1-1902 of this title or in the care and treatment of the residents of a home, or facility as defined in Section 1-1902 or 1-1950.1 of this title shall be eligible to be licensed or to participate in the management or operation of a home.

3. If the applicant is a firm, partnership, or

corporation, the applicant shall not be eligible to be licensed if any member of the firm or partnership or any officer or major stockholder of the corporation has been convicted of a felony in connection with the operation or management of a home or facility or the care and treatment of the residents of a home or facility as defined in Section 1-1902 of this title.

E. 1. The application for a license or renewal of a license shall be accompanied by a statement of ownership which shall include the following:

- a. the name, address, telephone number, occupation or business activity, business address and business telephone number of the owner of the home and of every person who owns the building in which the home is located. If the owner is a partnership or the name and address of any other home in corporation, the name and address of each partner and stockholder with an ownership interest of five percent (5%) or more shall be included in the statement, and
 - b. the name and address of any other home in which the owner has a full or partial financial interest or, if the owner is a partnership or corporation, any other home in which the partnership or corporation has a full or partial financial interest. The statement shall indicate whether or not any other home wherein a full or partial financial interest is held would, if located in this state, be required to be licensed.
2. The applicant shall agree in writing, prior to the issuance of a license, to notify the Department if there is any change in the information required to be included in the statement of ownership thirty (30) days in advance of such change. The information contained in the statement of ownership shall be public information and shall be available upon request from the Department.

F. Upon application of a licensee, a license may be modified in accordance with the provisions of the Residential Care Act. Such application for modification of a license shall be accompanied by a fee of Twenty Dollars (\$20.00) and shall be submitted in such form and manner as required by the Department.

G. Upon payment of the required application fees, the Commissioner may issue and renew licenses which substantially comply with the provisions of the Residential Care Act and rules promulgated pursuant thereto; provided, however, a plan of correction shall be submitted and accepted by both parties prior to licensure.

H. All residential care homes shall be required to have or employ a licensed administrator for the home.

Historical Data

Laws 1984, HB 1898, c. 128, § 10, eff. November 1, 1984; Amended by Laws 1985, HB 1426, c. 135, § 3, emerg. eff. June 7, 1985; Amended by Laws 1987, HB 1092, c. 98, § 4, emerg. eff. May 20, 1987; Amended by Laws 2001, SB 738, c. 410, § 3, eff. November 1, 2001 ([superseded document available](#)); Amended by Laws 2017, SB 774, c. 367, § 1, eff. November 1, 2017 ([superseded document available](#)).

§1-823. Transfer of ownership of home--Probationary license required--Notice of transfer

Whenever ownership of a residential care home is transferred from the person named in the application to another person who does not have a current license for the home, the transferee must obtain a probationary license as provided in Section 1-824 of this title.

1. The transferee shall notify the State Department of Health of the transfer and apply for a license no less than thirty (30) days prior to final transfer.

2. The transferor shall notify the Department of the transfer no less than thirty (30) days prior to final transfer and shall remain responsible for the operation of the home until such time as a probationary license is issued to the transferee. The transferor shall remain liable for all penalties assessed which are imposed for violations occurring prior to transfer of ownership.

Added by Laws 1984, c. 128, § 11, eff. November 1, 1984; Amended by Laws 1987, c. 98, § 5, emerg. eff. May 20, 1987; Amended by Laws 2001, SB 738, c. 410, § 4, eff. November 1, 2001.

§1-824. Probationary license--Duration--Conditions for issuance--Termination--Issuance or denial of regular license

If an applicant for licensure under the Residential Care Act has not been previously licensed, or if a home is not in operation at the time application is made, the State Department of Health shall issue a probationary license. A probationary license shall be valid for one hundred twenty (120) days unless sooner suspended or revoked pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act.

1. Prior to the issuance of a probationary license, the Department shall:

- a. ascertain whether the applicant is qualified to be licensed pursuant to the provisions of Section 1-822 of this title, and
- b. inspect the home and inform the applicant of any conditions which require correction prior to the issuance of a license. If the home is a new home, the Department shall also inform the applicant of any condition which

requires correction prior to the acceptance of residents into the home. If the home is an existing home whose ownership is being transferred, the probationary license issued to the transferee, in addition to any corrections required as a result of the inspection, shall be subject to any plan of correction submitted by the previous owner and approved by the Department.

2. Within thirty (30) days prior to the termination of a probationary license, the Department shall completely inspect the home and, if the home meets the applicable rules for licensure, shall issue a license pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act and rules promulgated pursuant thereto. If at the end of an extension of the probationary license, the home

is not in substantial compliance with the provisions of the Residential Care Act and the rules promulgated pursuant thereto, the license shall be denied and the Department shall take such action as necessary and as authorized pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act for the protection of the health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the home.

Added by Laws 1984, c. 128, § 12, eff. November 1, 1984; Amended by Laws 1987, c. 98, § 6, emerg. eff. May 20, 1987; Amended by Laws 2001, SB 738, c. 410, § 5, eff. November 1, 2001.

§1-825. Violation of act--Penalties and liabilities

Any person who violates any of the provisions of the Residential Care Act, the rules promulgated pursuant thereto by the State Board of Health, or any order or determination of the State Department of Health pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act, or who fails to perform any duty imposed upon such person by the provisions of the Residential Care Act, shall be subject to any of the following penalties and liabilities as authorized by the provisions of the Residential Care Act:

1. License revocation, suspension, or nonrenewal;
2. Transfer of residents;
3. Temporary manager;
4. Injunctive proceedings;
5. Civil fines; and
6. Criminal penalties as provided in Section 1-832 of this title.

Amended by Section 6 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-826. Denial, refusal to renew, suspension or revocation of license

After notice and opportunity for hearing pursuant to the

provisions of Section 1-830 of this title, the State Department of Health may:

1. Deny a license to an applicant who does not meet the requirements for licensure pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act or rules promulgated pursuant thereto;
2. Refuse to renew, suspend, or revoke a license to a licensee or home which is not in compliance with the provisions of the Residential Care Act or the rules of the State Board of Health promulgated pursuant thereto;
3. Deny, refuse to renew, suspend, or revoke a license to an applicant, licensee, or home which has a history of noncompliance or incomplete or partial compliance with the provisions of the Residential Care Act or the rules promulgated pursuant thereto or for which there is other satisfactory evidence which demonstrates that the applicant or licensee is unlikely to manage or operate a home or to provide care or treatment to the residents of a home in a manner which warrants public trust;
4. Deny, refuse to renew, suspend, or revoke a license to an applicant or licensee who has insufficient financial or other resources to the extent that the applicant or licensee is incapable of assuring or providing adequate care or treatment to the residents of the home;
5. Deny, refuse to renew, suspend, or revoke a license to an applicant or licensee who has been convicted of a felony in connection with the management or operation of a home, or facility as defined in Section 1-1902 of this title, or the care or treatment of a resident of the home, or facility as defined in Section 1-1902 of this title;
6. Deny, refuse to renew, suspend, or revoke a license if an administrator or operator of a home has been convicted of a felony in connection with the management or operation of a home, or facility as defined in Section 1-1902 or 1-1950.1 of this title, or care or treatment of a resident of the home, or facility as defined in Section 1-1902 of this title;
7. Deny, refuse to renew, suspend, or revoke a license to an applicant or licensee who has permitted, aided, or abetted the commission of any illegal act in connection with the management or operation of a home or the care or treatment of a resident of a home;
8. Refuse to renew a license if, at the time application is made for the renewal of the license, the licensee or home is subject to a plan of correction. The license may be renewed at such time as the required corrections are completed in the manner and time specified in the plan of correction. If a license is issued or renewed with a plan of correction, such license may be suspended if the required corrections are not

completed in the manner and time specified in the plan of correction; or

9. Suspend or revoke a license if the licensee has failed to submit a plan of correction or to correct conditions as required in a plan of correction pursuant to the provisions of Section 1-831 of this title.

Amended by Section 7 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-827. Effective date of nonrenewal, suspension or revocation of license--Hearing--New application--New license

A. If a hearing is not requested, the effective date of the nonrenewal, suspension, or revocation shall be as follows:

1. In cases of nonrenewal of a license the effective date shall be the expiration date of the license. The date may be extended no longer than necessary to permit the orderly removal of the residents; or

2. In cases of revocation or suspension of the license the effective date shall be the date set by the State Department of Health in the notice of revocation. The date shall be no later than necessary to permit the orderly removal of the residents.

B. If a hearing is requested, unless otherwise ordered by a district court, the effective date of the nonrenewal, suspension, or revocation of a license shall be set upon final action after the hearing and shall be no later than necessary to permit the orderly removal of the residents.

C. A new application of the applicant or licensee whose license was not renewed, suspended, or revoked may be considered after ninety (90) days upon receipt of satisfactory evidence that the conditions upon which such nonrenewal, suspension, or revocation was based have been corrected. A new license may be granted after a full and complete inspection or investigation and the applicant or licensee and the home are in substantial compliance with the provisions of the Residential Care Act and the rules promulgated thereto by the State Board of Health.

Amended by Section 8 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-828. Fire safety inspections--Fire safety rules and regulations

The State Fire Marshal or a designee shall conduct fire safety inspections on a regular basis at residential care homes and report any findings from the inspections to the State Department of Health. In addition, the State Fire Marshal shall develop, adopt, and promulgate rules, or specifications consistent with nationally recognized standards or practices necessary for the safeguarding of life and property of residents of residential

care homes from the hazards of fire and smoke.

Amended by Section 9 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-828.1. State agencies--Placement of persons in unlicensed residential care homes prohibited

No state agency shall knowingly place, refer, or recommend placement of a person in need of care in an unlicensed residential care home.

Added by Laws 1987, c. 98, § 20, emerg. eff. May 20, 1987.

§1-829. Inspections and investigations--Reports

A. Every home for which a license has been issued shall be inspected by a duly appointed representative of the State Department of Health pursuant to rules promulgated by the State Board of Health with the advice and counsel of the Long-Term Care Facility Advisory Board. Inspection reports shall be prepared on forms prescribed by the Department with the advice and counsel of the Advisory Board.

B. 1. The Department shall at least one time a year and whenever it deems necessary inspect, survey, and evaluate each home to determine compliance with applicable licensure rules.

2. An inspection, investigation, survey, or evaluation shall be either announced or unannounced. The State Board of Health shall promulgate rules determining the criteria when an inspection, investigation, survey or evaluation shall be unannounced or may be announced by the Department. Any licensee, applicant for a license or operator of any unlicensed facility shall be deemed to have given consent to any duly authorized employee, agent of the Department to enter and inspect the home in accordance with the provisions of the Residential Care Act. Refusal to permit such entry or inspection shall constitute grounds for the denial, nonrenewal, suspension, or revocation of a license as well as emergency transfer of all residents.

3. Any employee of the Department who discloses to any unauthorized person, prior to an inspection, information regarding an unannounced residential care home inspection that is required pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act shall, upon conviction thereof, be guilty of a misdemeanor. In addition, such action shall be construed to be a misuse of office and punishable as a violation of rules promulgated by the Ethics Commission.

One person may be invited from a statewide organization of older adults or persons with disabilities by the Department to act as a citizen observer in any inspection.

C. The Department shall maintain a log, updated at least monthly and available for public inspection, which shall at a

minimum detail:

1. The name of the home and date of inspection, investigation, survey, or evaluation;

2. Any deficiencies, lack of compliance, or violation noted at the inspection, investigation, survey, or evaluation;

3. The date a notice of violation, license denial, nonrenewal, suspension, or revocation was issued or other enforcement action occurred;

4. The date a plan of correction was submitted and the date the plan was approved;

5. The date corrections were completed, as verified by an inspection; and

6. If the inspection or investigation was made pursuant to the receipt of a complaint, the date such complaint was received and the date the complainant was notified of the results of the inspection or investigation.

D. The Department may require the residential care home to submit periodic reports. The Department shall have access to books, records and other documents maintained by the home to the extent necessary to implement the provisions of the Residential Care Act and the rules promulgated by the Board pursuant thereto.

E. The Department shall make at least one annual report on each home in the state. The report shall include all conditions and practices not in compliance with the provisions of the Residential Care Act or rules promulgated pursuant thereto within the last year and, if a violation is corrected, or is subject to an approved plan of correction. The Department shall send a copy of the report to any person upon receiving a written request. The Department may charge a reasonable fee to cover the cost of copying and mailing the report.

F. A state or local ombudsman as that term is defined by the Special Unit on Aging within the Department of Human Services pursuant to the Older Americans' Act, 42 U.S.C.A., Section 3001 et seq., as amended, or case manager employed by the Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services or one of its contract agencies is authorized to accompany and shall be notified by the Department of any inspection conducted of any home licensed pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act. Any state or local ombudsman is authorized to enter any home licensed pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act, communicate privately and without unreasonable restriction with any resident of a home who consents to such communication, to seek consent to communicate privately and without restriction with any resident of a home, and to observe all areas of a home that directly pertain to the care of a resident of a home.

G. Following any inspection by the Department, pursuant to the

provisions of this section, all reports relating to the inspection shall be filed in the county office of the Department of Human Services in which the home is located and with the Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services.

Historical Data

Laws 1984, HB 1898, c. 128, § 17, eff. November 1, 1984; Amended by Laws 1987, HB 1092, c. 98, § 11, emerg. eff. May 20, 1987; Amended by Laws 1990, SB 866, c. 51, § 132, emerg. eff. April 9, 1990; Amended by Laws 2001, SB 738, c. 410, § 10, eff. November 1, 2001 ([superseded document available](#)); Amended by Laws 2017, SB 774, c. 367, § 2, eff. November 1, 2017 ([superseded document available](#)).

§1-830. Complaints--Notice--Hearing--Orders--Emergencies

A. Whenever the State Department of Health determines that a home is in violation of the provisions of the Residential Care Act or any rule promulgated pursuant thereto, the Department shall give written notice to the home of the violation.

B. The Department shall give the notice specified by the provisions of subsection A of this section within ten (10) business days of an inspection or investigation of the home.

C. The home may request a hearing within ten (10) business days of receipt of the notice. On the basis of the evidence produced at the hearing, the Department shall make findings of fact and conclusions of law and enter an order thereon. The Department shall give written notice of such order to the alleged violator and to such other persons as shall have appeared at the hearing and made written request for notice of the order. The Department may enter its order on the basis of such record or, before issuing its order, require additional hearings or further evidence to be presented. The order of the Department shall become final and binding on all parties unless appealed to the district court as provided in Sections 317 through 325 of Title 75 of the Oklahoma Statutes within thirty (30) days after notice has been sent to the parties.

D. Whenever the Department finds that an emergency exists requiring immediate action to protect the public health or welfare of any resident of a home licensed pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act, the Department may without notice or hearing issue an order stating the existence of such an emergency and requiring that such action be taken as it deems necessary to meet the emergency. Such order shall be effective immediately. The State Board of Health shall adopt rules that establish criteria for the emergency transfer of residents initiated by the State Department of Health, including notice and hearings, if the resident is aggrieved by the

decision. Any person to whom such an order is directed shall comply with the order immediately but on application to the Department shall be afforded a hearing within ten (10) business days of receipt of the notice. On the basis of such hearing, the Department shall continue such order in effect, revoke it, or modify it. Any person aggrieved by such order continued after the hearing provided for in this subsection may appeal to the district court of the area affected within thirty (30) days. Such appeal when docketed shall have priority over all cases pending on the docket, except criminal cases.

E. The hearings authorized by this section may be conducted by the Department. The Department may designate hearing officers who shall have the power and authority to conduct such hearings in the name of the Department at any time and place. Such hearings shall be conducted in conformity with and records made thereof as provided by the provisions of Sections 309 through 326 of Title 75 of the Oklahoma Statutes.

Amended by Section 11 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-830.1. Informal and Alternative Dispute Resolution

A. Any residential care home, as defined in paragraph 12 of Section 1-820 of Title 63 of the Oklahoma Statutes, that wishes to challenge a statement of deficiency through either an informal dispute resolution process or an alternative informal dispute resolution process may make a written request to the State Department of Health within thirty (30) calendar days after the receipt of a statement of deficiencies from the Department.

B. The informal dispute resolution process for violations of the Residential Care Act or any rule promulgated pursuant thereto shall follow the process contained in Sections 1-1914.3, 1-1914.4, subsections B and C of 1-1914.5 and 1-1914.6 through 1914.10 of Title 63 of the Oklahoma Statutes.

C. The alternative informal dispute resolution process for violations of the Residential Care Act or any rule promulgated pursuant thereto shall follow the process contained in Sections 1-1914.11 through 1-1914.16 of Title 63 of the Oklahoma Statutes.

D. An impartial decision-making panel for the alternative informal dispute resolution set forth in subsection C of this section shall be comprised of the following members:

1. Two members who are representative volunteers who have experience in the operation of a residential care home;
2. One member who is an employee of the Department and has experience in the survey process from residential care homes;
3. One member who is a representative from the aging and

disabled community and who does not represent a state agency;
and

4. One member who is a lay member and who is not employed by
the Department.

*Section 1 of Enrolled House Bill No. 2667, effective November 1,
2016.*

**§1-831. Report of correction--Plan of correction--Modified
plan--Extension of correction time--Contest of action**

A. If the violations specified in the notice required by
Section 1-830 of this title have been corrected prior to the
date of filing of a plan of correction, the home may submit a
report of correction in place of a plan of correction as
specified in subsection B of this section. Such report shall be
signed by the administrator or operator.

B. A home shall have ten (10) business days after receipt of
notice of violation in which to prepare and submit a plan of
correction. The plan shall include a fixed time period within
which violations are to be corrected. The Department may grant
an extended period where correction involves substantial capital
improvement. If the Department rejects a plan of correction, it
shall send notice of the rejection and the reason for the
rejection within ten (10) business days of receipt of the plan
of correction to the home. The home shall have ten (10)
business days after receipt of the notice of rejection in which
to submit a modified plan. If the modified plan is not timely
submitted, or if the modified plan is rejected, the home shall
follow a directed plan of correction imposed by the Department
which shall be submitted to the home within thirty (30) days.
*Amended by Section 12 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective
November 1, 2001.*

§1-832. Prohibited acts - Violations

A. No person shall willfully:

1. Fail to correct or interfere with the correction of a
violation within the time specified on the notice or approved
plan of correction pursuant to the provisions of the Residential
Care Act as the maximum period given for correction, unless an
extension is granted and the corrections are made before
expiration of extension;

2. Prevent, interfere with, or attempt to impede in any
way the work of any duly authorized representative of the State
Department of Health in the investigation and enforcement of the
Residential Care Act;

3. Prevent or attempt to prevent any such representative

from examining any relevant books or records in the conduct of official duties pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act;

4. Prevent or interfere with any such representative in the preserving of evidence of any violation of the Residential Care Act or the rules promulgated pursuant thereto;

5. Retaliate or discriminate against any resident or employee for contacting or providing information to any state official, or for initiating, participating in, or testifying in an action for any remedy authorized pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act;

6. File any false, incomplete, or intentionally misleading information required to be filed pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act, or willfully fail or refuse to file any information required by the Department pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act; or

7. Open or operate a home without a license. Operation of a residential care home without a license is a public health emergency warranting action pursuant to the provisions of Section 1-830 of this title.

B. No employee of a state or unit of a local governmental agency shall aid, abet, assist, conceal or conspire with an administrator, operator or other employee of a home in a violation of any provision of the Residential Care Act or any rule promulgated by the State Board of Health pursuant thereto.

C. Any person who violates any of the provisions of the Residential Care Act, upon conviction, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. Each day upon which such violation occurs shall constitute a separate violation.

Amended by Section 13 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-833. Penalties

A. Any person who has been determined by the State Department of Health to have violated any provision of the Residential Care Act or any rule promulgated pursuant thereto may be liable for a civil penalty of not more than One Hundred Dollars (\$100.00) for each day that the violation continues. The maximum civil penalty shall not exceed Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) for any related series of violations.

B. The amount of the penalty shall be assessed by the Department pursuant to the provisions of subsection A of this section, after notice and hearing. In determining the amount of the penalty, the Department shall include, but not be limited to, consideration of the nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation and, with respect to the person found to have committed the violation, the degree of culpability, the effect

on ability of the person to continue to do business, and any show of good faith in attempting to achieve compliance with the provisions of the Residential Care Act.

C. Any license holder may elect to surrender his or her license in lieu of the fine but shall be forever barred from obtaining a reissuance of the license.

Amended by Section 14 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-834. Prosecution of violations--Action for equitable relief

A. The Attorney General, the State Department of Health or the district attorney of the appropriate district court of Oklahoma may bring an action in a court of competent jurisdiction for the prosecution of a violation by any person of a provision of the Residential Care Act or any rule promulgated pursuant thereto.

B. 1. Enforcement of any action for equitable relief to redress or restrain a violation by any person of a provision of the Residential Care Act or for an injunction or recovery of any administrative or civil penalty assessed pursuant to the Residential Care Act may be brought by:

- a. the district attorney of the appropriate district court of the State of Oklahoma,
- b. the Attorney General on behalf of the State of Oklahoma in the appropriate district court of the State of Oklahoma, or
- c. the Department on behalf of the State of Oklahoma in the appropriate district court of the State of Oklahoma, or as otherwise authorized by law.

2. The court has jurisdiction to determine the action, and to grant the necessary or appropriate relief including, but not limited to, mandatory or prohibitive injunctive relief, interim equitable relief, and punitive damages.

Amended by Section 15 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-835. Administration of medication to resident

Administration of medication to a resident of a home shall be administered by a person who has obtained appropriate training from a technology center school or institution of higher education.

Added by Laws 1984, c. 128, § 23, eff. November 1 1984; Amended by Laws 1985, c. 135, § 5, emerg. eff. June 7, 1985; Amended by Laws 2001, HB 1214 c. 33 § 60, emerg. eff. July 1, 2001.

§1-836. Standards for homes

A. The State Board of Health shall promulgate rules to enforce the provisions of the Residential Care Act. Such rules shall regulate:

1. Location and construction of the home, including plumbing, heating, lighting, ventilation, and other physical conditions which shall ensure the health, safety, and comfort of residents and protection from fire hazards;

2. Number of all personnel, including management and supervisory personnel, having responsibility for any part of the care given to residents. The Department shall establish staffing ratios for homes which shall specify the number of staff hours of care per resident that are needed for care for various types of homes or areas within homes. Minimum personnel ratio requirements for all homes shall be based only on average daily census;

3. All sanitary conditions within the home and its surroundings, including water supply, sewage disposal, food handling, and general hygiene, which shall ensure the health and comfort of residents;

4. Diet-related needs of each resident based on sound nutritional practice and on recommendations which may be made by the physicians attending the resident;

5. Equipment essential to the health and welfare of the residents; and

6. Rehabilitation programs for those residents who would benefit from such programs.

B. 1. In order to further ensure minimum standards for homes, a certificate of training as specified shall be required of all:

- a. administrators, who shall obtain a residential care administrator certificate of training, and
- b. direct care staff responsible for administration of medication to residents, who shall obtain a residential care certificate of training.

2. The certificate will be developed and administered by an institution of higher learning with the advice of the State Commissioner of Health and of the Long-Term Care Facility Advisory Board.

- a. (1) For residential care home administrators the training shall consist of a minimum of fifty (50) hours which shall include at least fifteen (15) hours of training in the administration of medication and shall also include, but not be limited to, training in:
 - (a) administration,
 - (b) supervision,
 - (c) reporting,

- (d) record keeping,
 - (e) independent or daily living skills,
 - (f) leisure skills and recreation, and
 - (g) public relations concerning the issues associated with the operation of residential care homes and programs.
- (2) An individual applying for certification as an administrator may at any time present the institution of higher education with documentation of prior education and work experience for consideration for possible credit toward certification.
 - (3) Any person employed as an administrator after July 1, 1988, shall have completed the training specified by this division.
 - (4) Thereafter, annually, at least sixteen (16) hours of training in the subjects specified by this division shall be required for such administrator.
 - (5) A certified administrator may make a written request to the Commissioner to be placed in an inactive status for up to five (5) subsequent calendar years. Such inactive status shall allow the administrator to waive the educational requirements for the period of the request. Such certified administrator shall not work in a residential care administrator capacity in Oklahoma until such time as the certificate is reactivated. The request to reactivate the certificate shall be made in writing to the Commissioner. Such administrator shall then be required to complete sixteen (16) hours of training in the subjects specified in this division.
- b. All direct care staff who are responsible for administration of medication to residents shall be required to begin training in the administration of medication within ninety (90) days of employment with the home and to satisfactorily complete at least fifteen (15) hours of training in the administration of medication, within the first year of employment with the home.
3. All other direct care staff who are employed by a residential care home, within ninety (90) days of employment with the home, shall be required to begin eight (8) hours of in-service training, to be administered by the administrator of the home or other person designated by the administrator of the home

and completed within twelve (12) months from such person's date of employment, and annually thereafter. Thereafter such direct care staff and the direct care staff responsible for administering medication to residents shall, annually, be required to receive at least eight (8) hours of training by the administrator of the home in:

- a. patient reporting and observation,
- b. record keeping,
- c. independent or daily living skills,
- d. leisure skills and recreation,
- e. human relations, and
- f. such other training relevant to residential care programs and operations.

4. The requirement of certification and the training specified pursuant to the provisions of this subsection shall be included in the rules promulgated by the Board.

5. Failure of the owner or administrator to ensure the training required pursuant to this subsection is received shall constitute a violation of the Residential Care Act and shall be grounds for revocation of licensure. Proof of successful completion of such training for the residential care home administrator and direct care staff shall be required prior to issuance or renewal of a license issued pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act. The Department shall not renew any license for any residential care home if the training required by this subsection has not been completed.

Added by Laws 1984, c. 128, § 24, eff. Nov. 1, 1984. Amended by Laws 1985, c. 135, § 6, emerg. eff. June 7, 1985; Laws 1987, c. 98, § 17, emerg. eff. May 20, 1987; Laws 1988, c. 233, § 2, operative July 1, 1988; Laws 1998, c. 110, § 1, eff. Nov. 1, 1998. Amended by Section 16 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-837. Insuring life of resident--Persons eligible--Assignment of benefits of life insurance policy

A. No owner, administrator, or operator of a residential care home shall have an insurable interest in the life of a resident of the home unless the owner, administrator or operator is related to the resident by blood or marriage.

B. No owner, administrator or operator of a residential care home shall be entitled or assigned to any benefits of a life insurance policy on a resident unless the owner, administrator or operator is related to the resident by blood or marriage.

Amended by Section 17 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-838. Receivers--Payment of expenses--Compensation

Repealed by Section 21 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-839. Disposition of monies received by Department

All monies received by the State Department of Health, from any monies received as a result of an assessment of a civil penalty pursuant to the provisions of the Residential Care Act shall be deposited in the Public Health Special Fund created in Section 1-107 of this title.

Amended by Section 18 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-840. Other provisions applicable to residential care homes

Residential care homes subject to the provisions of the Residential Care Act shall comply with the provisions of Sections 1-1909, 1-1910, 1-1914.1, 1-1914.2, 1-1915, 1-1917, 1-1918, 1-1919, 1-1920, 1-1921, 1-1922, 1-1924, 1-1926, 1-1927, 1-1930, 1-1939, 1-1940 and 1-1941 of this title.

Added by Laws 1984, c. 128, § 28, eff. November 1, 1984; Amended by Laws 1985, c. 135, § 7, emerg. eff. June 7, 1985; Amended by Laws 1986, c. 10, § 1, emerg. eff. March 17, 1986; Amended by Laws 1987, c. 98, § 21, emerg. eff. May 20, 1987; Amended by Laws 1995, c. 230, § 6, eff. July 1, 1995.

§1-841. Accounting of clients' financial records

The State Department of Health shall require as a condition of licensure for residential care facilities that an accounting be made of financial records of each client for which the facility is the payee in each such residential facility. Such accounting shall be recorded and given to the resident and/or the resident's representative upon request. The records may be inspected by any employee of the Department during any regular inspection or at any time a complaint is received by the Department regarding a client's finances.

Amended by Section 19 of Enrolled Senate Bill No. 738, effective November 1, 2001.

§1-842. Residents' representatives

A. Any contract or application for admission to a residential care facility shall include provisions for the applicant to designate an individual to be the "representative of a resident". The individual so designated shall have a fiduciary duty to the resident to act at all times in the best interests of the resident. Any resident of a residential care facility may change the designation of a representative at any time and for any reason. No representative shall be required to serve in such capacity if the person objects to serving, and may resign

as representative upon written notice to the resident and the facility.

B. Upon admission or the signing of a contract for admission to a residential care facility or any modifications to the contract for admission, the representative of the resident shall be notified of the admission, the contract or any modification to the contract.

C. If a resident is subject to a special, limited or full guardianship, pursuant to the provisions of the Oklahoma Guardianship and Conservatorship Act or the Protective Services for the Elderly and for Incapacitated Adults Act, the representative of the resident shall be the court-appointed guardian.

Added by Laws 1995, c. 230, § 5, eff. July 1, 1995.

§1-849. Long Term Care Facility for Level II and III Sex Offenders

A. The State Department of Health shall initiate a request for proposal for the operation of a stand-alone long-term care facility for sex offenders who are assigned a numeric risk level of II or III as provided in the Sex Offenders Registration Act. The request for proposal shall set forth surveillance and security specifications providing for heightened security of residents to protect the public and residents of the facility.

B. The State Board of Health shall promulgate rules and establish procedures necessary to implement the request for proposal and the operation of the stand-alone long-term care facility for Level II and III sex offenders.

Added by Laws 2008, SB 2704, c. 411, § 1, eff. November 1, 2008.